

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF
CALIFORNIA

Wine v. Merit Systems Protection Board

No. 25-cv-03336-JCS (N.D. Cal. Oct. 7, 2025) · No. 25-cv-03336-JCS · Decided October 7, 2025

OPINION

Wine v. Merit Systems Protection Board

PER CURIAM.

1 2 3

4 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

5 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

6

MITCHELL WINE,

7 Case No. 25-cv-03336-JCS Plaintiff,

8 ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’

v. MOTIONS TO DISMISS AND

9 DENYING PLAINTIFF’S MOTION

MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION FOR DECLARATORY AND

10 BOARD, et al., INJUNCTIVE RELIEF; AND DENYING

AS MOOT MOTION FOR STAY BY

11 Defendants. FEDERAL AGENCY DEFENDANTS

AND PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR

12 JUDICIAL ACTION

13 Re: Dkt. Nos. 22, 26, 29, 36, 53, 58 14

15 I. INTRODUCTION

16 Plaintiff Mitchell Wine brings this case challenging decisions of the Merit Systems 17
Protection Board (“MSPB”) and asserting related claims. Presently before the Court are three 18
motions to dismiss (collectively, “the Motions to Dismiss”): 1) a motion to dismiss by MSPB, 19
Department of the Interior (“DOI”), Chris Davidson in his official capacity, Department of 20
Homeland Security (“DHS”), and Adrian Henry in his official capacity (collectively, “the Federal
21 Agency Defendants”), dkt. no. 22 (“Federal Agency Defendants’ Motion”); 2) a motion to
dismiss 22 by Defendant John Crisman, dkt. no. 26 (“Crisman Motion”); and 3) a motion to
dismiss by the 23 State of Arkansas and Arkansas Governor Sarah Huckabee Sanders, dkt. no. 29
 (“Arkansas 24 Motion”). In addition, Plaintiff has filed a Motion for Declaratory Judgment and
Injunctive 25 Relief, dkt. no. 36 (“Declaratory Relief Motion”). The Court finds that these
motions are suitable 26 for determination without a hearing and therefore vacates the October 15,

2025 hearing. For the 27 reasons stated below, the Court GRANTS the Motions to Dismiss and DENIES the Declaratory 1 Relief Motion.¹ Because the Court's rulings on these motions render moot the administrative 2 motion by the Federal Agency Defendants to stay this case pending the government shutdown and 3 Plaintiff's motion for judicial action pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3771, those motions are DENIED.

4 II. BACKGROUND

5 A. The Complaint 6 Plaintiff filed this case on April 15, 2025, seeking review of a final decision of the MSPB 7 in case number DA-0752- 18-0116-C-5 ("the 116 Case"). Dkt. no. 1, Compl. at ECF p. 1. On

8 May 2, 2025, Plaintiff filed a first amended complaint ("FAC") seeking review of a different 9 MSPB decision, in case number DA-1221-24-0451-W-1 ("the 451 Case"). Dkt. no. 6, FAC at ECF 10 p. 1. In the FAC, Plaintiff sues the MSPB; DOI and DOI Supervisor Chris Davidson in his 11 "personal and professional capacities"; DHS and DHS Officer Adrian Henry in his "personal and 12 professional capacities"; and the State of Arkansas and state official John Crisman in his "personal 13 and professional capacities." A summons attached to Plaintiff's "Proof of Service," dkt. no. 8, also 14 lists Arkansas Governor Sarah Sanders as a defendant. Dkt. no. 8 at ECF p. 10. 15 In violation of the Court's local rules, Plaintiff purports to incorporate by reference the 16 original complaint into the FAC. FAC at ECF p. 2 ("Plaintiff adopts herein by reference his 17 original petition for review filed in this matter and brings forth that petition and its exhibits as if 18 pled in this complaint."); Civ.LR. 10-1 ("Any party filing or moving to file an amended pleading 19 must reproduce the entire proposed pleading and may not incorporate any part of a prior pleading 20 by reference."). He also requests that the Court "take judicial notice of Plaintiff case 23-cv-00158- 21 JEB in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia for additional factual background 22 information." Id. 23 Plaintiff alleges in the FAC that he was "employed by Defendant Department of the 24 Interior as a wildlife biologist from May 2003 to April 2018 and the agency attempted to 25 unlawfully terminate [him] for his legitimate disclosures of waste, fraud, and abuse in December 26 2017." FAC ¶ 2. According to Plaintiff, "[o]n December 14, 2017, Defendants Adrian Henry and 27 1 John Crisman disassembled Plaintiff's privacy gate at the entrance to Plaintiff's property in Stone 2 County, Arkansas to gain unlawful access to Plaintiff's residence and most recent telework duty 3 station in his former duties as a biologist for the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service." Id. ¶ 3. Plaintiff 4 alleges that he "was an adjudicated whistleblower at that time, and both Henry and Crisman were 5 acting at the behest of Defendant 6 Department of the Interior who were advising Davidson." Id. ¶ 4. Plaintiff alleges that the 7 "unlawful entry" into his home was a "violation of 5 U.S.C. 2302(b)(14) as Defendants had 8 accessed Plaintiff's medical records prior to the breaking and entering of Plaintiff's property and 9 knew such an action would threaten life and property as was indeed the case." Id. ¶ 5. He alleges 10 that his "life was threatened," that his dog was "almost shot" and that the entry was without a 11 warrant, probable cause or invitation.

Id. ¶ 6. 12 According to Plaintiff, “Defendant MSPB conspired with other named Defendants to 13 coerce Plaintiff into a 2018 settlement agreement [in the 116 Case] that forced Plaintiff into 14 medical retirement by disallowing discovery of email documents detailing planning aspects of the 15 2017 break-in at Plaintiff’s property.” Id. ¶ 7. Plaintiff alleges that DOI’s “own agency-approved 16 health professional informed the agency its actions related to the felonious armed home invasion 17 and defiance of her reasonable accommodation requests were contrary to her recommendations 18 and were causing severe harm to Plaintiff.” Id. ¶ 8. He further alleges that “[r]ather than use the 19 aforementioned medical information to ensure a healthy workplace environment for Plaintiff, 20 Defendants conspired to terminate Plaintiff from his duties due to a medical condition they 21 purposely induced and inflicted upon Plaintiff in reprisal and with malice aforethought.” Id. ¶ 9. 22 Plaintiff alleges that “Defendant MSPB final decision in [the 451 Case] lacks legitimacy 23 given the facts of this case and the fact the MSPB has actively engaged in conspiracy with other 24 named Defendants to facilitate malicious prosecution of Plaintiff and unlawful imprisonment in an 25 Arkansas state prison.” Id. ¶ 11. 26 Plaintiff alleges that “[t]he MSPB is allowing other Defendants to use the 2018 settlement 27 agreement as a non-disclosure agreement regarding violations of law by Defendants prior to 1 medical condition(s) to preclude reinstatement to duty with the agency.” Id. ¶ 12. 2 Plaintiff alleges that “[t]he state of Arkansas is conspiring with other Defendants to ensure 3 Plaintiff cannot access information described herein so that they may continue to maliciously 4 prosecute Plaintiff for disclosing waste, fraud, and abuse within federally funded state projects.” 5 Id. ¶ 13. 6 Plaintiff requests that in this action, the Court “rescind the 2018 settlement agreement 7 between the parties of the agreement, allow full discovery, and conduct a jury trial regarding 8 Plaintiff’s removal from his previous duties as a federal biologist, the legality of the 2018 9 settlement agreement, and the malicious prosecution described herein.” Id. ¶ 14. “Alternatively, 10 Plaintiff requests the case be remanded to the MSPB for a hearing following full discovery of 11 documents presented as part this complaint and previous filings.” 12 Id. Plaintiff alleges that he 12 “cannot obtain a fair hearing at the MSPB or within any Arkansas court as a result of the criminal 13 conspiracy detailed herein.” Id. ¶ 16. Plaintiff seeks damages, including “all costs of bringing this 14 action” and requests “an addendum hearing to determine any further compensatory, consequential, 15 and/or punitive damages” Id. ¶ 15. 16 The FAC does not enumerate the specific claims Plaintiff seeks to assert or identify which 17 defendants are named on any particular claim. However, Plaintiff invokes federal jurisdiction “in 18 accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(2), 5 U.S.C. 2302(b)(13) and (14), 18 U.S.C. [§§] 241 and 19 242, 42 U.S.C. [§] 1983, Section 501 of the Rehabilitation Act (29 U.S.C [§]791) and the Fourth 20 Amendment of the Constitution in conjunction with a directly appealable action (suitability action) 21 as part of the MSPB appeal for which review is sought.” Id. at ECF p. 2. 22 B. D.C. Circuit Court Memorandum Opinion 23 Plaintiff has asked the Court to take judicial notice of case 23-cv-00158-JEB in the U.S. 24 District Court for the District of Columbia (“the D.C. action”) 25 2 Numerous

documents are attached to Plaintiff's original complaint, including what appear to be 26 email communications produced in response to a Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") request, with redactions. 27 3Although the Court refers to this case as "the D.C. Action" for convenience, it should be noted 1 information." FAC ¶ 1. In that case, Wine asserted claims that substantially overlap with the 2 claims he asserts in this case. On July 17, 2024, the Court issued a Memorandum Opinion 3 summarizing the underlying facts of the case. 4 Dkt. no. 10-3 ("Memorandum"). The court's 4 summary of the factual background states as follows: 5 Between early 2003 and April 2018, Wine was employed as a biologist at the Fish and Wildlife Service within the Department of 6 Interior. See ECF No. 1 (Compl.), ¶¶ 2, 22. At some point during his tenure, he learned that Interior had (in his view) unlawfully permitted 7 a hog farm in the Buffalo National River Watershed of Arkansas despite risks to the environment and human safety. Id., ¶¶ 9, 22. After 8 making his concerns known to the Office of Special Counsel, Plaintiff was "forced into medical retirement." Id., ¶¶ 10, 22. On December 9 14, 2017, just a few months prior to that untimely exit, federal and state officials — namely, Federal Protective Service Officer Adrian 10 Henry and Arkansas Game and Fish Commission Officer John Crisman— entered uninvited onto Wine's private property in 11 Arkansas to retrieve government-owned computer equipment that he had refused to relinquish. Id., ¶¶ 2–3, 5–8. 12 These events spawned three prior lawsuits in the Federal Circuit and 13 our federal district court based on a range of grievances — including allegations of whistleblower retaliation by OSC and Interior's 14 purportedly unsatisfactory response to his Freedom of Information Act request for records related to the December 2017 entry onto his 15 property. See *Wine v. Merit Systems Protection Board*, 815 F. App'x 518, 518 (Fed. Cir. 2020); *In re Wine*, 820 F. App'x 1025, 1026 (Fed.

16 Cir. 2020); *Wine v. Dep't of Interior*, 2022 WL 3715799 (D.D.C. Aug.

29, 2022). In the instant action, which commenced in January 2023, 17 Plaintiff claims that that very intrusion violated the Fourth Amendment, federal civil-rights statutes (18 U.S.C. §§ 241, 242), and 18 an Arkansas criminal-trespassing law (Arkansas Code § 5-39-203). Id., ¶¶ 28–46. 19 20 Memorandum at 2.

21 The Court in that case dismissed all of Plaintiff's claims for lack of jurisdiction, finding, 22 inter alia, that Plaintiff's claims against the State of Arkansas, DHS and DOI were barred under 23 the doctrine of sovereign immunity; that his claims against Crisman, Davidson and Henry were 24 also barred under the doctrine of sovereign immunity to the extent they were sued in their official 25 claim challenging DOI's response to his FOIA request related to the 2017 alleged unlawful entry 26 into his home based on failure to exhaust; it also dismissed a claim under the Civil Service Reform Act on the basis that it was moot. See *Wine v. Dep't of the Interior*, No. 1:21-CV-03349 (TNM), 27 2022 WL 17668791, at *2 (D.D.C. Dec. 14, 2022). 1 capacities; and that the court did not have personal jurisdiction over any of the individual 2 defendants to the extent they were sued in their personal capacities. The MSPB was not named as 3 a defendant in the D.C. Action. The court in that case observed that the defendants had presented 4 "a veritable

smorgasbord of defenses to Plaintiff's suit" but that it would address "only a selection 5 of the most obvious and dispositive arguments." Memorandum at 4. 6 C. Administrative Proceedings 7 Plaintiff has engaged in extensive litigation related to the underlying events in this case, 8 including administrative proceedings before the MSPB and court cases in the D.C. District Court, 9 the Federal Circuit and Arkansas State Court. The Court provides here only a brief summary of 10 the proceedings relevant to Plaintiff's allegations, drawn from summaries contained in the two 11 MSPB decisions Plaintiff challenges in this case, the 116 Case, dkt. no. 22-3 (Feb. 5, 2025 MSPB 12 Decision ("Feb. 5 Dec.)) and the 451 Case, dkt. no. 22-4 (Mar. 7, 2025 MSPB Decision ("Mar. 7 13 Dec.)). 14 Plaintiff worked for the Fish and Wildlife Service ("FWS") between July 2003 and April 15 2018. Mar. 7 Dec. at 2. On November 9, 2017, DOI proposed to remove Plaintiff from his 16 position. Feb. 5 Dec. at 2. On December 8, 2017, DOI implemented the removal. Feb. 5 Dec. at 17 2. On December 18, 2017, Plaintiff timely appealed the removal by initiating the 116 Case before 18 the MSPB. Id. (citing *Wine v. Department of the Interior*, MSPB Docket No. DA-0752-18-0116-I- 19 1). With the assistance of a settlement judge, the parties entered into a settlement agreement in the 20 116 Case and submitted a Joint Motion to Cancel the Hearing, which included the fully executed 21 settlement agreement that was to be effective April 27, 2017. Id. The administrative judge 22 therefore dismissed the appeal in the 116 Case on the basis that the case was settled. Id. 23 Subsequently, Plaintiff filed numerous petitions for enforcement of the settlement agreement in 24 the 116 Case and asserted in some of the later petitions that the settlement agreement should be 25 rescinded because it was coerced. Feb. 5, 2025 Dec. at 2-4, 11-12. Plaintiff's requests to rescind 26 the settlement agreement were rejected. Id. at 11-12.

27 The 451 Case involved a complaint related to DOI's rejection of Plaintiff's application for 1 docketed as an individual right of action ("IRA") appeal. Id. at 1. Plaintiff claimed that he was 2 rejected for the position due to his prior whistleblowing complaint. Id. at 9. Following a hearing, 3 the administrative judge ultimately dismissed the case as a sanction, finding that Plaintiff had 4 engaged in various forms of improper conduct during the course of the proceedings and that his 5 application for the FWS position was not "not a good faith application for a job that he would be 6 ready, willing, and able to perform if selected" but was, instead, a bad faith attempt to use the 7 litigation process to "obtain discovery of redacted materials related to the 2017 alleged home 8 invasion, despite repeatedly raising this issue in other Board appeals and in District Court." Id. at 9 14-16. 10 D. Pending Motions 11 1. Federal Defendants' Motion 12 The Federal Defendants contend this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff's 13 challenges to the MSPB's decisions in the 611 and 451 Cases under 5 U.S.C. § 7703 because 14 neither was a "mixed case" involving " 'an action which the employee or applicant may appeal to 15 the [MSPB]' and an allegation 'that a basis for the action was discrimination prohibited by' 16 enumerated federal antidiscrimination statutes." Agency Defendants' Motion at 7-10. They 17 further assert that the Civil Service Reform Act ("CSRA") preempts Plaintiff's claims under 5 18 U.S.C. §§ 2302(b)(13)

and (b)(14), thus depriving the Court of subject matter jurisdiction over 19 those claims. *Id.* at 10-11. Defendants argue that the doctrine of sovereign immunity also bars all 20 of Plaintiff's claims against MSPB, DOI and DHS, as well as all of his official-capacity claims 21 against Davidson and Henry. *Id.* at 11-12. Finally, Defendants argues that this Court lacks 22 personal jurisdiction over Davidson and Henry and therefore, that Plaintiff's personal capacity 23 claims against those defendants must also be dismissed. 24 2. Crisman Motion 25 Defendant Crisman is a former employee of the Arkansas State Game and Fish 26 Commission. Crisman Motion at 1. He asserts that Plaintiff's claims should be dismissed with 27 prejudice based on lack of personal jurisdiction and, to the extent Plaintiff sues him in his official 1 Plaintiff's fails to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 2 because the allegedly unlawful entry onto his property was in 2017 and therefore, any claim based 3 on violation of his constitutional rights is barred by the applicable statute of limitations. *Id.* at 7. 4 In any event, Crisman asserts, Plaintiff's allegations are not sufficient to establish that his 5 constitutional rights were violated because he alleges only that Crisman entered the curtilage of his 6 home. *Id.* at 7-8. Finally, Crisman argues that the claims against him should be dismissed under 7 the doctrine of forum non conveniens. *Id.* at 8-9. 8 3. Arkansas Motion 9 In the Arkansas Motion, Defendants assert, as a preliminary matter, that Governor Sarah 10 Sanders was not named as a defendant in the operative complaint and therefore, she should be 11 dismissed on that basis. Arkansas Motion at 4 n. 3. They further assert that Plaintiff's claims 12 against the State of Arkansas and Governor Sanders (assuming she is properly named as a 13 defendant in this case) should be dismissed for lack of personal jurisdiction and under the doctrine 14 of sovereign immunity. *Id.* at 4-7. Defendants further assert that any claims against Sanders and 15 the State of Arkansas are time-barred and that Plaintiff fails to state any viable claim against them.

16 *Id.* at 7-8. Finally, they argue the claims against them should be dismissed under the doctrine of 17 forum non conveniens. 18 4. Declaratory Relief Motion 19 Plaintiff brings a motion seeking declaratory judgment that: 1) "Plaintiff's administrative 20 remedies with the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) are precluded into perpetuity based on 21 indisputable material evidence provided to this court; and 2) "material evidence of record 22 demonstrates that Defendant actions are directly related to and responsible for Plaintiff's medical 23 condition(s)." Declaratory Relief Motion, ¶¶ 1, 5. He also seeks "injunctive relief in the form of a 24 court order ceasing the criminal prosecution of Plaintiff in Pulaski County Arkansas case LRCR- 25 25-3362," where Plaintiff alleges he "is being maliciously prosecuted by Defendant State of 26 Arkansas in a case that is underlain by a parent case that was unlawfully transferred from district 27 to circuit court, and which is being used to deter and/or prevent the instant proceeding." *Id.* ¶ 6. 1 to assert jurisdiction but reminds the court that this tribunal is the only forum of proper jurisdiction 2 given all material facts." *Id.* ¶ 13.

3 III. ANALYSIS

4 A. Motions to Dismiss 5 1. Legal Standards Under Rule 12(b)(1) 6 Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) of

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a district court must 7 dismiss an action if it lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter of the suit. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 8 12(b)(1). “Subject matter jurisdiction can never be forfeited or waived and federal courts have a 9 continuing independent obligation to determine whether subject-matter jurisdiction exists.” 10 *Leeson v. Transamerica Disability Income Plan*, 671 F.3d 969, 975 n.12 (9th Cir. 2012) (internal 11 quotation marks and citations omitted). On a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter 12 jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1), it is the plaintiff’s burden to establish the existence of subject 13 matter jurisdiction. *Kingman Reef Atoll Invs., LLC v. United States*, 541 F.3d 1189, 1197 (9th Cir. 14 2008). 15 A party challenging the court’s subject matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1) may bring a 16 facial challenge or a factual challenge. See *White v. Lee*, 227 F.3d 1214, 1242 (9th Cir. 2000). In 17 evaluating a facial challenge to subject matter jurisdiction, the court accepts the factual allegations 18 in the complaint as true. See *Miranda v. Reno*, 238 F.3d 1156, 1157 n.1 (9th Cir. 2001). Where a 19 defendant brings a factual challenge, on the other hand, “a court may look beyond the complaint to 20 matters of public record without having to convert the motion into one for summary judgment.” 21 *White*, 227 F.3d at 1242 (citation omitted). Once the moving party has made a factual challenge 22 by offering affidavits or other evidence to dispute the allegations in the complaint, the party 23 opposing the motion must “present affidavits or any other evidence necessary to satisfy its burden 24 of establishing that the court, in fact, possesses subject matter jurisdiction.” *Colwell v. Dep’t of 25 Health & Human Servs.*, 558 F.3d 1112, 1121 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting *St. Clair v. City of Chico*, 26 880 F.2d 199, 201 (9th Cir. 1989)). 27 2. Legal Standards Under Rule 12(b)(2) 1 Procedure for lack of personal jurisdiction. “When a defendant moves to dismiss for lack of 2 personal jurisdiction, the plaintiff bears the burden of demonstrating that the court has jurisdiction 3 over the defendant.” *Pebble Beach Co. v. Caddy*, 453 F.3d 1151, 1154 (9th Cir. 2006). “Where, 4 as here, the motion is based on written materials rather than an evidentiary hearing, ‘the plaintiff 5 need only make a prima facie showing of jurisdictional facts.’” *Id.* (quoting *Sher v. Johnson*, 911 6 F.3d 1357, 1361 (9th Cir.1990)). “Although the plaintiff ‘cannot simply rest on the bare 7 allegations of its complaint,’ ... uncontroverted allegations in the complaint must be taken as 8 true.” *Schwarzenegger v. Fred Motor Corp.*, 374 F.3d 797, 800 (9th Cir. 1998) (quoting *Amba 9 Marketing Systems, Inc. v. Jobar International, Inc.*, 551 F.2d 784, 787 (9th Cir.1977)). favor.” 10 3. Legal Standards Under Rule 12(b)(6) 11 A complaint may be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12 for failure to state a claim on which relief can be granted. “The purpose of a motion to dismiss 13 under Rule 12(b)(6) is to test the legal sufficiency of the complaint.” *N. Star Int’l v. Ariz. Corp.* 14 Comm’n, 720 F.2d 578, 581 (9th Cir. 1983). Generally, a plaintiff’s burden at the pleading stage 15 is relatively light. Rule 8(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure states that a “pleading which 16 sets forth a claim for relief . . . shall contain . . . a short and plain statement of the claim showing 17 that the pleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a). 18 In ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the court analyzes the complaint and 19 takes “all allegations of material fact as true and

construe[s] them in the light most favorable to the 20 non-moving party.” Parks Sch. of Bus. v. Symington, 51 F.3d 1480, 1484 (9th Cir. 1995). A 21 complaint must “contain either direct or inferential allegations respecting all the material elements 22 necessary to sustain recovery under some viable legal theory.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 562 (2007) (citing Car Carriers, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 745 F.2d 1101, 1106 (7th Cir. 24 1984)). “A pleading that offers ‘labels and conclusions’ or ‘a formulaic recitation of the elements 25 of a cause of action will not do.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Twombly, 26 550 U.S. at 555). Rather, the claim must be “‘plausible on its face,’” meaning that the plaintiff 27 must plead sufficient factual allegations to “allow[] the court to draw the reasonable inference that

4. Whether this Court has Subject Matter Jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s MSPB

1 Appeals 2 The administrative regime that governs workplace protections for federal employees is

3 “highly complicated.” Crowe v. Wormuth, 74 F.4th 1011, 1022 (9th Cir. 2023). The Court does 4 not attempt to provide a comprehensive description of that regime but instead describes only the 5 aspects of it that are necessary to address Defendants’ challenges to subject matter jurisdiction in 6 this case. 7 The CSRA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 1101 et seq., “establishes a framework for evaluating personnel 8 actions taken against federal employees . . . [that] provides graduated procedural protections 9 depending on an action’s severity.” Kloeckner v. Solis, 568 U.S. 41, 44 (2012). For major 10 personnel actions, such as removal, an employee is entitled to appeal the agency’s decision 11 directly to the MSPB. 5 U.S.C. §§ 7512, 7513(d)). In general, if the employee does not prevail 12 before the MSPB, an appeal may be taken only to the United States Court of Appeals for the 13 Federal Circuit. 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(A). There is an exception, however, when the employee 14 files a “mixed case complaint,” that is, “ ‘a complaint of employment discrimination filed with a 15 federal agency based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, disability, or genetic 16 information related to or stemming from an action that can be appealed to the Merit Systems 17 Protection Board (MSPB).’ ” Crowe, 74 F.3d at 1023 (quoting 29 C.F.R. § 1614.302(a)(1)); see 18 also 5 U.S.C. § 7702(a)(1)(A) & (B) (providing that a mixed case is “an action which the 19 employee or applicant may appeal to the [MSPB],” and that also includes an allegation that a basis 20 for the action was prohibited discrimination). In that case, an employee’s appeal must be filed in 21 federal district court. 5 U.S.C. §§ 7702(a)(1), 7703(b)(2). 22 To challenge less serious personnel actions categorized as “prohibited personnel 23 practices,” the employee must first file a complaint in the Office of Special Counsel (“OSC”) 24 before proceeding to the MSPB. 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(3). However, where the complaint alleges a 25 violation of the Whistleblower Protection Act (“WPA”), 5 U.S.C. § 1221, the employee may “seek 26 corrective action from the [MSPB]” via an IRA appeal even if the OSC does not act on a 27 complaint. 5 U.S.C. § 1221(a). The employee is then entitled to seek judicial review of the 1 competent jurisdiction.” 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(B). 2 Here, neither of the administrative actions that are the subject of Plaintiff’s appeal is a 3 mixed case. As Plaintiff concedes in his Opposition,

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473
474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549
550
551
552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597
598
599
600
601
602
603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630
631
632
633
634
635
636
637
638
639
640
641
642
643
644
645
646
647
648
649
650
651
652
653
654
655
656
657
658
659
660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667
668
669
670
671
672
673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680
681
682
683
684
685
686
687
688
689
690
691
692
693
694
695
696
697
698
699
700
701
702
703
704
705
706
707
708
709
710
711
712
713
714
715
716
717
718
719
720
721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728
729
730
731
732
733
734
735
736
737
738
739
740
741
742
743
744
745
746
747
748
749
750
751
752
753
754
755
756
757
758
759
760
761
762
763
764
765
766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774
775
776
777
778
779
780
781
782
783
784
785
786
787
788
789
790
791
792
793
794
795
796
797
798
799
800
801
802
803
804
805
806
807
808
809
810
811
812
813
814
815
816
817
818
819
820
821
822
823
824
825
826
827
828
829
830
831
832
833
834
835
836
837
838
839
840
841
842
843
844
845
846
847
848
849
850
851
852
853
854
855
856
857
858
859
860
861
862
863
864
865
866
867
868
869
870
871
872
873
874
875
876
877
878
879
880
881
882
883
884
885
886
887
888
889
890
891
892
893
894
895
896
897
898
899
900
901
902
903
904
905
906
907
908
909
910
911
912
913
914
915
916
917
918
919
920
921
922
923
924
925
926
927
928
929
930
931
932
933
934
935
936
937
938
939
940
941
942
943
944
945
946
947
948
949
950
951
952
953
954
955
956
957
958
959
960
961
962
963
964
965
966
967
968
969
970
971
972
973
974
975
976
977
978
979
980
981
982
983
984
985
986
987
988
989
990
991
992
993
994
995
996
997
998
999
1000

27 Id. at 1218. Thus, even if the agency's noncompliance with the settlement agreement is alleged to

1 action. Id. at 1219. Rather, the MSPB may only address whether the agency breached the 2
settlement agreement and therefore violated the MSPB's Order. Id.; see also Oja v. Dep't of Army,
3 405 F.3d 1349, 1355 (Fed. Cir. 2005) ("Our law on this issue is clear. '[A] claim of
discrimination 4 contained in a petition to enforce a settlement agreement does not give rise to
mixed case status.' . 5 . . This is so because a breach by the agency is not an action appealable to
the Board pursuant to 5 6 U.S.C. § 1204(a)(1) and is therefore not an action described in 5 U.S.C.
§ 7702(a)(1)(A) as [is] 7 needed to support a mixed case.") (citing King, 59 F.3d at 1218). Thus,
because Plaintiff's appeal 8 of the 116 Case involves a challenge to the validity of the settlement
agreement in that case, 9 Plaintiff's appeal cannot be a mixed case. 10 In sum, because the

administrative decisions by the MSPB that Plaintiff challenges are not 11 mixed cases, the Court finds, as a matter of law, that this Court does not have jurisdiction over 12 Plaintiff's appeal of those decisions. 13 5. Whether this Court has Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over Plaintiff's CSRA Claims 14 Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(14), a subsection of the 15 provision of the CSRA that enumerates "prohibited personnel practices," on the basis that they 16 "accessed Plaintiff's medical records prior to the breaking and entering of Plaintiff's property" in 17 December 2017. FAC ¶ 5; see also *id.* at ECF p. 2 (invoking 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(13) and (14) in 18 support of federal jurisdiction). However, the remedial scheme established under the CSRA is 19 "both exclusive and preemptive because 'permit[ting] FTCA claims to supplant the CSRA's 20 remedial scheme' would defeat Congress' purpose of creating 'a single system of procedures and 21 remedies, subject to judicial review.'" *Mangano v. United States*, 529 F.3d 1243, 1246 (9th Cir. 22 2008) (quoting *Rivera v. United States*, 924 F.2d 948, 951 (9th Cir. 1991)). Thus, "where 23 Congress has provided a process for processing prohibited personnel practices, other potential 24 employee remedies are preempted." *Id.* (citing *United States v. Fausto*, 484 U.S. 439, 455 25 (1988)).

26 To the extent that Plaintiff asserts that Defendants violated Section 2302(b)(13) and (14), 27 he is limited to the procedures set forth in the CSRA, such as filing a complaint with OSC under 5 1 U.S.C. § 1214. As discussed above, because Plaintiff does not bring a mixed case, the CSRA 2 does not provide for jurisdiction in this Court over Plaintiff's claims. 3 The letter that Plaintiff has submitted reflecting that OSC may have refused to hear any 4 further complaints from Plaintiff does not change the Court's conclusion. See *dk.* no. 24 at ECF 5 p. 7. The Ninth Circuit held in *Mangano* that "a federal employee's personnel-related complaints 6 are preempted 'even if no remedy [is] available . . . under the CSRA.'" 529 F.3d at 1246 (quoting 7 *Collins v. Bender*, 195 F.3d 1076, 1079 (9th Cir.1999)). Thus, Plaintiff's claim under the CSRA 8 may not be adjudicated by this Court. 9 6. Whether Sovereign Immunity Bars Claims Against Federal Agency Defendants 10 Under the doctrine of sovereign immunity, "[t]he United States, as sovereign, is immune 11 from suit save as it consents to be sued." *United States v. Sherwood*, 312 U.S. 584, 586 (1941). 12 "[C]onsent may not be implied but must be 'unequivocally expressed.'" *Consejo de Desarrollo 13 Economico de Mexicali, A.C. v. United States*, 482 F.3d 1157, 1173 (9th Cir. 2007). "In an 14 official-capacity claim, the relief sought is only nominally against the official and in fact is against 15 the official's office and thus the sovereign itself." *Lewis v. Clarke*, 581 U.S. 155, 163 (2017). 16 Thus, sovereign immunity protects not only government agencies but also federal employees 17 acting in their official capacities for those agencies. *Id.* 18 The United States has not waived its sovereign immunity for constitutional tort claims. 19 *Ardalan v. McHugh*, No. 13-CV-01138-LHK, 2013 WL 6212710, at *10 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 27, 20 2013) (citing *Consejo de Desarrollo Economico de Mexicali, A.C.*, 482 F.3d at 1173); see also 21 *Harris v. Holder*, 885 F. Supp. 2d 390, 397 (D.D.C. 2012) ("The United States has not waived its 22 sovereign immunity for constitutional tort claims. . . . In addition, sovereign immunity extends to 23 governmental

agencies . . . and to their employees where such employees are sued in their official capacities) (citing *Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp. v. Meyer*, 510 U.S. 471, 477 (1994) (stating that sovereign immunity precludes damage claims against the United States government for constitutional violations brought under the Federal Tort Claims Act)). Furthermore, the Ninth Circuit has held that sovereign immunity bars claims against federal agencies under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. *Jachetta v. United States*, 653 F.3d 898, 908 (9th Cir. 2011) (“We find no evidence in either statute that Congress intended to subject federal agencies to § 1983 and § 1985 liability.”) Thus, to the extent Plaintiff asserts claims based on alleged violation of his Fourth Amendment rights, those claims are barred as to the Federal Agency Defendants under the doctrine of sovereign immunity.^{5 6} Sovereign immunity also bars Plaintiff’s claims against the Agency Defendants under the Rehabilitation Act. To sue under the Rehabilitation Act, an individual must first exhaust their administrative remedies by bringing their claim before the employing agency itself – here, DOI. *Barkley v. U.S. Marshals Serv. ex rel. Hylton*, 766 F.3d 25, 34 (D.C. Cir. 2014); 29 U.S.C. § 10794a(a)(1). Because the exhaustion requirement is a condition on the federal government’s waiver of sovereign immunity, it requires strict adherence. *Barkley*, 766 F.3d at 34. Here, Plaintiff has not alleged that he raised any Rehabilitation Act claim before DOI and therefore this Court lacks jurisdiction over that claim. See *Wine v. Dep’t of the Interior*, No. 1:21-CV-3349 (TNM), 2022 WL 3715799, at *5 (D.D.C. Aug. 29, 2022) (dismissing Rehabilitation Act claim for failure to exhaust administrative remedies).¹⁶ Accordingly, the Court finds that it lacks subject matter jurisdiction over all of Plaintiff’s claims against the Federal Agency Defendants.^{18 7.} Whether Sovereign Immunity Bars Claims Against Sanders and Crisman in their Official Capacities and the State of Arkansas¹⁹ As a preliminary matter, the Court finds that Sarah Sanders was not named as a defendant in either the original complaint or the amended complaint. Accordingly, she is not now and never has been a defendant in this case. This issue was raised in the Arkansas Motion and Plaintiff did not argue in his Opposition brief that he intended to name Sanders as a Defendant. Therefore, the Court need not address the arguments in the Arkansas Motion as they relate to Sanders. As to the State of Arkansas and Crisman in his official capacity, the Court finds Plaintiff’s claims are barred.^{25 26 5} Plaintiff also may be asserting claims under 18 U.S.C. §§ 241 and 242 against the Agency Defendants. However, these are criminal statutes and do not give rise to a private cause of action.²⁷ *Allen v. Gold Country Casino*, 464 F.3d 1044, 1048 (9th Cir. 2006) (“We affirm the dismissal of 1 under the doctrine of sovereign immunity. 2 The Supreme Court has “understood the Eleventh Amendment to confirm the structural 3 understanding that States entered the Union with their sovereign immunity intact, unlimited by Article 4 III’s jurisdictional grant.” *Virginia Off. for Prot. & Advoc. v. Stewart*, 563 U.S. 247, 253 (2011). 5 Therefore, “absent waiver” by a state itself, or “valid abrogation” by Congress, “federal courts may not 6 entertain a private person’s suit against a State.” *Id.* at 254. The same principles apply to state officials 7 sued in their official capacity for monetary damages. See *Will v. Michigan Dep’t of State Police*, 491 8 U.S. 58, 71 & n.10 (1989)

(“[A] suit [for damages] against a state official in his or her official capacity . . . is no different from a suit against the State itself.”).¹⁰ There are two exceptions to this doctrine. First, under *Ex parte Young*, 209 U.S. 123¹¹ (1908), a plaintiff may maintain a suit for prospective relief against a state official in their official¹² capacity, when that suit seeks to correct an ongoing violation of the Constitution or federal law.¹³ See *Seven Up Pete Venture v. Schweitzer*, 523 F.3d 948, 956 (9th Cir. 2008). “In determining¹⁴ whether the doctrine of *Ex parte Young* avoids an Eleventh Amendment bar to suit, a court need¹⁵ only conduct a ‘straightforward inquiry into whether [the] complaint alleges an ongoing violation¹⁶ of federal law and seeks relief properly characterized as prospective.’ ” *Verizon Maryland, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of Maryland*, 535 U.S. 635, 645 (2002) (quoting *Idaho v. Coeur d’Alene Tribe of Idaho*, 521 U.S. 261, 296 (1997)).¹⁹ Second, under the *ultra vires* doctrine, the Eleventh Amendment does not apply to conduct²⁰ by a state official that is “undertaken without any authority whatever” where the plaintiff seeks²¹ “specific relief” rather than monetary compensation. *Fla. Dep’t of State v. Treasure Salvors, Inc.*, 22 458 U.S. 670, 697 (1982); *Larson v. Domestic & Foreign Com. Corp.*, 337 U.S. 682, 689 (1949)²³ (“There may be, of course, suits for specific relief against officers of the sovereign which are not²⁴ suits against the sovereign. . . . [W]here the officer’s powers are limited by statute, his actions²⁵ beyond those limitations are considered individual and not sovereign actions. The officer is not²⁶ doing the business which the sovereign has empowered him to do or he is doing it in a way which²⁷ the sovereign has forbidden. His actions are *ultra vires* his authority and therefore may be made¹ Here, it appears that Plaintiff seeks to invoke both exceptions to Eleventh Amendment² immunity, asserting that conduct of Arkansas officials was *ultra vires* and that defendants are³ involved in an ongoing conspiracy to deprive him of his constitutional rights that began with the⁴ alleged unlawful break-in in 2017 and was followed by ongoing malicious prosecutions in⁵ Arkansas state court. Dkt. no. 33 (Opposition to Arkansas Motion) ¶¶ 1-6. Plaintiff states that he⁶ “intends to seek injunctive relief related to ongoing criminal prosecution(s) in state courts” (as⁷ indeed, he has done in his Declaratory Relief Motion) and asserts that he should be permitted to⁸ pursue discovery about Defendants’ ongoing constitutional violations. *Id.* ¶¶ 8-9.⁹ The Court finds Plaintiff’s arguments unpersuasive. First, in the operative complaint¹⁰ Plaintiff seeks monetary compensation rather than other “specific relief.” Consequently, neither of¹¹ the exceptions to sovereign immunity discussed above applies. Second, Plaintiff’s allegations that¹² Arkansas state officials have engaged in an ongoing conspiracy to violate his constitutional rights¹³ are entirely conclusory and do not meet the requirements of *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 678. Therefore, the¹⁴ Court finds that Plaintiff’s claims against the State of Arkansas and Crisman in his official¹⁵ capacity are barred by the Eleventh Amendment.¹⁶ 8. Whether the Court has Personal Jurisdiction of Davidson, Henry or Crisman¹⁷ a. Legal Standards¹⁸ “Where . . . there is no applicable federal statute governing personal jurisdiction, the¹⁹ district court applies the law of the state in which the district court sits.” *Dole Food Company, Inc. v. Watts*, 303 F.3d 1104, 1110 (9th Cir. 2002). “Under California’s long-arm statute,²¹ California state courts may exercise

personal jurisdiction ‘on any basis not inconsistent with the 22 Constitution of this state or of the United States.’” *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 571 U.S. 117, 125 23

(2014) (quoting Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 410.10). Thus, the Court must determine whether the 24 exercise of personal jurisdiction over the individuals sued in their personal capacity “comports 25 with the limits imposed by federal due process.” *Id.* (citing *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 26 U.S. 462, 464 (1985)). 27 “Opinions in the wake of the pathmarking *International Shoe* decision have differentiated 1 between general or all-purpose jurisdiction, and specific or case-linked jurisdiction.” *Goodyear 2 Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915, 919 (2011) (citing *Helicopteros 3 Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall*, 466 U.S. 408, 414, nn. 8, 9 (1984)). General jurisdiction 4 may be established when a defendant’s contacts with a state are “substantial” or “continuous and 5 systematic” such that the defendant “can be haled into court in that state in any action, even if the 6 action is unrelated to those contacts.” *Bancroft & Masters, Inc. v. Augusta Nat. Inc.*, 223 F.3d 7 1082, 1086 (9th Cir. 2000). “For an individual, the paradigm forum for the exercise of general 8 jurisdiction is the individual’s domicile; for a corporation, it is an equivalent place, one in which 9 the corporation is fairly regarded as at home.” *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 10 564 U.S. at 924. Here, Plaintiff does not dispute that none of the individuals sued in their 11 personal capacities has “continuous systematic ties” to the State of California. Therefore, the 12 Court must determine whether there is specific jurisdiction over these individuals. 13 A court may exercise specific jurisdiction when the following requirements are met: 14 (1) the non-resident defendant must purposefully direct his activities or consummate some transaction with the forum or resident 15 thereof; or perform some act by which he purposefully avails himself of the privileges of conducting activities in the forum, 16 thereby invoking the benefits and protections of its laws;

(2) the claim must be one which arises out of or relates to the 17 defendant’s forum-related activities; and 18 (3) the exercise of jurisdiction must comport with fair play and substantial justice, i.e. it must be reasonable. 19 20 *Dole Food*, 303 F.3d at 1111 (internal quotations and citations omitted). “The plaintiff bears the 21 burden of satisfying the first two prongs of the test.” *Schwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor Co.*, 22 374 F.3d 797, 802 (9th Cir. 2004) (citing *Sher v. Johnson*, 911 F.2d 1357, 1361 (9th Cir. 1990)). 23 “If the plaintiff fails to satisfy either of these prongs, personal jurisdiction is not established in the 24 forum state.” *Id.* If the plaintiff succeeds in satisfying both of the first two prongs, the burden 25 then shifts to the defendant to present a ‘compelling case’ that the exercise of jurisdiction would 26 not be reasonable.” *Id.* (quoting *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 476–78 (1985)). 27 b. Discussion 1 individuals sued in their personal capacities purposefully directed any activities related to 2 Plaintiff’s claims towards California. Instead, Plaintiff argues only that this Court has jurisdiction 3 over his claims generally because “the federal government chose to move Plaintiff’s MSPB 4 hearing within the boundaries of the northern district of California to enlist the help of Judge 5 Borrowman in continuation of the conspiracy between all Defendants to deprive Plaintiff

of his 6 rights under color of law.” Dkt. no. 24 (Opposition to Federal Agency Defendants’ Motion) ¶ 19; 7 see also dkt. no. 28 (Opposition to Crisman Motion) ¶ 11 (“The conspiracy detailed in Plaintiff’s 8 complaint(s) and herein was directed to the Northern District of California by Defendants, not by 9 Plaintiff, thus Crisman has sufficient ties to California as part of the conspiracy to deprive Plaintiff 10 of his rights under color of law, *inter alia*.”); dkt. no. 33 (Opposition to Arkansas Motion) ¶ 7 11 (“Plaintiff had no part in directing the MSPB case to the Northern District of California and this 12 was the work of Defendants in conspiracy with one another such that each party falls under the 13 jurisdiction of this court, thus there is no question that jurisdiction is appropriate in this tribunal.”). 14 Plaintiff’s argument fails, both because the allegations of a conspiracy are entirely conclusory, as 15 discussed above, and because “jurisdiction over each defendant must be established individually.” 16 *Sher v. Johnson*, 911 F.2d 1357, 1365 (9th Cir. 1990). Therefore, Plaintiff has failed to establish 17 that the Court has personal jurisdiction over any of the individual defendants to the extent Plaintiff 18 sues them in their personal capacities. 19 As to Adrian and Henry, Plaintiff has failed to establish that this Court may exercise 20 jurisdiction for the additional reason that Plaintiff has purported to serve them by sending certified 21 copies of the complaint to the Department of Homeland Security, which is insufficient. See dkt. 22 no. 21. Plaintiff’s claims for damages against Adrian and Henry, who are federal officials who 23 were acting under color of law, may only be asserted under *Bivens v. Six Unknown Narcotics 24 Agents*, 403 U.S. 388, (1971). *Daly-Murphy v. Winston*, 837 F.2d 348, 355 (9th Cir. 1987). 25 Furthermore, “where money damages are sought through a *Bivens* claim, personal service, and not 26 service at the place of employment, is necessary to obtain jurisdiction over a defendant in his 27 capacity as an individual.” *Id.* Therefore, Plaintiff has not properly served Adrian and Henry and 1 9. Whether Plaintiff’s Claims Against Crisman are Time-Barred 2 Even assuming this Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over Crisman, Plaintiff’s 3 claims against him fail because they are untimely. It appears that Plaintiff is seeking to assert a 4 claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Fourth Amendment based on Crisman’s entry onto 5 Plaintiff’s property in December 2017. The applicable statute of limitations for a claim under 6 Section 1983 is the statute of limitations established by the forum state for personal injury torts. 7 *Wallace v. Kato*, 549 U.S. 384, 387 (2007). Hence, the statute of limitations for a Section 1983 8 claim brought in California is two years. See Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 335.1 (establishing a two-year 9 statute of limitations for personal injury actions). 10 “Federal law determines when a cause of action accrues and the statute of limitations 11 begins to run for a § 1983 claim.” *Bagley v. CMC Real Est. Corp.*, 923 F.2d 758, 760 (9th Cir. 12 1991). Under federal law, a § 1983 claim accrues when a plaintiff “knows or has reason to know 13 of the injury which is the basis of the action.” *Id.* (citation omitted). It is clear from the 14 allegations in the complaint that Plaintiff was aware of the alleged illegal entry onto his property at 15 the time it occurred and therefore, he was required to initiate this action within two years of the 16 December 14, 2017 events, that is, by December 14, 2019. Furthermore, Plaintiff’s assertion in

17 his opposition brief that his claims against Crisman were “well within the statute of limitations” 18 has no merit. See dkt. no. 28 (Opposition to Crisman Motion) ¶ 4. According to Plaintiff, he 19 “litigated Defendant Crisman at the Arkansas State Claims Commission and in Stone County 20 Arkansas case 69CV-20-67 on November 25, 2020, well within the statute of limitations but the 21 case was dismissed after the judge illegally sentenced Plaintiff to jail for mere self representation.” 22 Id. Even assuming the Arkansas action tolled the two-year limitations period while it was 23 pending, that action was filed after the statute of limitations on Plaintiff’s claim against Crisman 24 had already run. Therefore, Plaintiff has not asserted any claim against Crisman that is not time- 25 barred. 26 B. Declaratory Relief Motion 27 As discussed above, in his Declaratory Relief Motion, Plaintiff asks this Court for 1 Defendants’ conduct is responsible for his medical condition. He also asks the Court to enjoin a 2 pending criminal proceeding against him in Arkansas State Court. The Court DENIES Plaintiff’s 3 requests. 4 First, to the extent that Plaintiff asks the Court to enter judgment on his claims on the 5 merits, the request is premature. In particular, if Plaintiff’s request is asserted under Rule 12(c) of 6 the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which allows a party to seek judgment on the pleadings once 7 the pleadings are closed, Plaintiff’s request is premature because the pleadings have not yet closed. 8 If Plaintiff is seeking summary judgment in his favor under Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil 9 Procedure, the motion is premature because Plaintiff has not established that this Court has 10 jurisdiction over any claims or defendants, as discussed above. See *Tyson v. ACRT Servs. Inc.*,

11 No. 23-CV-01889-HSG, 2024 WL 69073, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 5, 2024) (denying motion for 12 summary judgment on the basis on the basis that it was premature where the plaintiff had “yet to 13 establish he [had] a viable claim” and no discovery had been conducted in the case). 14 Similarly, to the extent he seeks a preliminary injunction, Plaintiff has not met his burden. 15 “A plaintiff seeking a preliminary injunction must establish that he is likely to succeed on the 16 merits, that he is likely to suffer irreparable harm in the absence of preliminary relief, that the 17 balance of equities tips in his favor, and that an injunction is in the public interest.” *Winter v. Nat. 18 Res. Def. Council, Inc.*, 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008). Because Plaintiff has not established that there is 19 subject matter jurisdiction over this case or that this Court can exercise personal jurisdiction over 20 the individuals sued in their personal capacities, Plaintiff has not demonstrated that he is likely to 21 succeed on the merits and therefore, entry of a preliminary injunction is inappropriate. 22 Finally, although Plaintiff asks that this case be transferred “to an appropriate court of 23 jurisdiction if this court refuses to assert jurisdiction[.]” Declaratory Relief Motion ¶ 13, Plaintiff 24 has identified no jurisdiction where jurisdiction would be proper and it is not clear what 25 jurisdiction, if any, would offer an appropriate forum for Plaintiff’s claims. Therefore, that request 26 is denied. 27 C. Whether Plaintiff Should Be Permitted to Amend or to Conduct Discovery Prior 1 to Dismissal 2 “Unless it is absolutely clear that no amendment can cure the defect ... a pro se litigant is 3 entitled to notice of the complaint’s deficiencies and an opportunity to amend

prior to dismissal of the action.” *Lucas v. Dep't of Corr.*, 66 F.3d 245, 248 (9th Cir. 1995); see also *Smith v. Pac. 5 Properties and Dev. Corp.*, 358 F.3d 1097, 1101 (9th Cir. 2004) (holding that under Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, leave to amend should be “freely given” unless amendment will result in undue prejudice to the opposing party or will be futile). Here, the Court finds that amendment is futile because Plaintiff has pointed to no possible amendments to his complaint that would establish that this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over his claims or personal jurisdiction over the individual defendants. Further, although Plaintiff contends he should be permitted to conduct discovery that he believes would provide further evidence of an alleged conspiracy among the defendants in this case, he has not identified discovery that would have any bearing on the jurisdictional defects identified herein. Therefore, the Court concludes that dismissal of this case, in its entirety and without leave to amend, is appropriate.⁶

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Court GRANTS the Motions to Dismiss and DENIES the Declaratory Relief Motion. The Court dismisses this case, in its entirety, without prejudice. The Clerk is instructed to enter a separate judgment reflecting that this case is dismissed without prejudice for the reasons stated herein. In addition, because Sarah Huckabee Sanders was 20 21 22 23 24 25 6 The Court declines, however, the invitation of the Arkansas defendants to dismiss Plaintiff’s claims with prejudice. See Arkansas Motion at 10; Crisman Motion at 9. “Ordinarily, a case dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction should be dismissed without prejudice so that a plaintiff may reassert his claims in a competent court.” *Frigard v. United States*, 862 F.2d 201, 27 204 (9th Cir. 1988). While it is not clear what court might be able to hear Plaintiff’s claims, it is 1 erroneously listed on the docket of this case as a defendant, the Clerk shall terminate Sarah 2 Huckabee Sanders as a defendant. 3 IT IS SO ORDERED. 4 5 Dated: October 7, 2025

JOSEP . SPERO

7 United*States Magistrate Judge 8 9 10 ll a 12 13 14 15 16 € = 17 6 Zz 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28